Nutritional and Health Benefits of Fresh Vegetables – Past, Present and Future:

A Literature Review

Completed by

Tendai Marowa-Wilkerson Leia Weaver Cara Hovius J.W. Zandstra

> CORD IV Project # 9021 Final Report

20 November, 2007

Prepared for:

Fresh Vegetable Growers of Ontario c/o Sue McLarty, Manager Ag Business Centre 120 Main Street East Ridgetown, Ontario N0P 2C0

> 120 Main Street East c Ridgetown, ON NOP 2C0 Phone: 519 674-1500c Fax: 519 674-1600

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	
Health-Benefiting Properties of Fruits and Vegetables	6
Nutraceuticals	7
Vitamins	
Antioxidants	
Phytochemicals	
Lycopene	9
Beta-Carotene	9
Flavonoids	
Agronomic Considerations for Onions, Garlic, Tomatoes, Leafy G	reens, Sweet Potato, Carrots and Sweet
Corn	
Growth Conditions	
Organic and Conventional Methods of Production	
Harvest Considerations	
Processing Considerations	
Vegetable Specific Literature	
Sweet Corn	
Health Benefits	
Growth	
Bulb Crops	
Benefits	
Onions	
Health Benefits	
Growth	
Harvest	
Root Crops	
Health Benefits	
Growth and Maturation	
Packaging and Storage	
Tomatoes	
Health Benefits	
Genotype Considerations	
Growth and Maturation	
Harvest Practices for Higher Nutrient Retention	
Post Harvesting and Storage	
Processing	
Leafy Greens	
Kale	
Crowth and Maturation	
Growin and Maturation	
Harvesung	
Drogoging	
Processing	
Hoalth Panafita	
Crowth and Maturation	
Storage	
Stolage	

Lettuce	
Health Benefits	
Growth	
Spinach	
Biosafety Considerations for GMO Plants Bred to Express Nutraceuticals	40
Conclusion	41
Appendix A	
rppendin ri	

Executive Summary

This study outlines the importance of eating fresh, antioxidant-rich vegetables when possible. This is a review of relevant literature into production practices that focus on the importance of nutraceutical content in fresh vegetables. The end goal is to be able to give growers information on increasing the nutraceutical content of their vegetable crop.

The vegetables discussed in this paper are sweet corn (*Zea mays*), onion (*Allium cepa*), tomato (*Lycopersicum esculentum*), kale (*Brassica* family), broccoli (*Brassica* family), garlic (*Allium sativum*), carrot (*Daucus carota*) and lettuce (*Latuca sativa*). Some vegetables, such as the tomato and onion, have an abundant amount of literature on them and have been the subject of numerous studies worldwide. Other crops, like sweet corn and spinach, have very little information on both agronomic practices and their nutraceutical benefits. There is indeed a need for more study in these areas. While there is available literature on the health benefits of garlic, work on identifying the optimal agronomic practices to assist the producer in producing a crop high in levels of antioxidants is limited.

The consumption of fresh vegetables gives the consumer a variety of compounds that have a positive influence on human health. The phytochemicals found in fresh vegetables and fruit have anti-flammatory, enzyme inhibiting and bioactive features capable of combating the activities of oxidants. In tomatoes, the highest levels of lycopene were found in cherry tomato types. Consumption of lycopene by human beings has been said to lower the incidences of prostate, lung and digestive tract cancers. As for supplements, numerous studies have pointed out that they may not be as effective as whole foods. The way in which the vegetable is consumed influences the level of carotenoids available to the consumer. Some studies have revealed that cooked carrots have lower carotenoid levels, but because the human body is unable to fully break down the cellular nature of the carrot, the cooked carrot may have more carotenoid to offer the consumer. The best way to take full advantage of broccoli's high levels of vitamin A and B is to eat it raw.

Various agronomic factors have a bearing on the expression of phytonutrients including the soil type, temperature, water supply, type of mulching, nutrients supply and exposure to pests and diseases. The flavonoids in onions have been shown to have anti-carcinogenic, antithrombotic, antiplatelet, antiasthmatic and antibiotic qualities. However, the onion grower must exercise caution; an oversupply of water may lead to the reduced expression of flavonoids. One study revealed that field structure may influence the flavonoid level, stating that the carrot was able to amass more glucose and

fructose when grown in narrow ridges and flat land. It was interesting to note that one study revealed that there was little or no difference on the (carrot) carotene levels between a compost and mineral fertilizer. However for tomatoes, when chicken manure and clover was used instead of the mineral fertilizer the total phenolic content of the crop was raised by as much as 17.6% and 29% respectively. Field grown lettuce was found to contain more protein than greenhouse grown lettuce.

Temperature levels are an important consideration for the grower. For tomatoes, temperatures below 12°C were found to interfere with the proper biosynthesis of lycopene while high temperatures above 32°C bring lycopene biosynthesis to a stop. A tomato plant's exposure to direct sunlight was proven to lead to increased levels of vitamin C. Cool season temperature crops like spinach, cabbage, and broccoli, however, produce higher levels of vitamin B at lower temperatures. Carotenoid levels in kale where proven to be higher when grown in the summer than in the winter.

To maximize nutritional benefits in some vegetables like the onion and the tomato, it is best to harvest at peak maturity. For kale, one study indicated that the concentration levels of lutein, β -carotene, chlorophyll and vitamin B reached their highest levels in the leaves between the first and third week. After harvest the vegetables have been separated from their source of nutrients and begin to deteriorate as they start using their own resources. In broccoli, freezing has been proven to be a viable option to prevent quality deterioration.

Factors ranging from vegetable cultivar, soil type, season and time of harvest have a significant impact on the quality of vegetables put into storage. After harvest, carrots suffer loss in sweetness and carotenoid levels. In order to prevent this, one study suggests cool storage at 0°C for carrots. It was also revealed that while tomatoes stored at room temperature decrease in weight, the concentration of lycopene increases.

The majority of genetically modified crops have been shown to be produced to express enhanced herbicide and pest tolerance more than anything else. Grey literature suggests that in general, organically produced crops have higher levels of nutrients. However, there is an acknowledgement of the fact that plant breeders have targeted size, quantity and yield at the expense of nutritional levels.

Overall, it can be safely stated that there is a need to identify more agronomic practices which serve to increase the levels of phytochemicals in vegetables. Plant breeders must move away from selecting for yield, size and sometimes appearance and to start selecting for enhanced levels of nutraceuticals.

Health-Benefiting Properties of Fruits and Vegetables

The World Health Organization acknowledges that the global intake of vegetables is less than 20-50% of the recommended amount. In developed countries, the significantly low vegetable intake is due to the consumer's preferences for convenience foods and not the scarcity of the vegetables. In the US more processed vegetables are consumed than fresh vegetables (Rickman et al., 2007).

Phytochemicals are strong antioxidants that can modify metabolic activity, aid in the detoxification of carcinogens, and even influence processes in a tumor cell. It is best to consume a variety of fruits and vegetables, rather than limiting oneself to those with highest anti-oxidant capacity (Wargovich, 2000).

This paper reviews the literature that shows how eating fresh vegetables containing compounds such as phytochemicals can improve human health. It will address the importance of consuming vegetables in their entirety as opposed to reducing them to their constituent compounds. For example, some evidence suggests that high consumption of tomatoes and tomato products has been linked to carcinogenesis reduction, especially regarding prostate cancer. This has been linked to lycopene, which gives tomatoes their red colour (Giovannucci, 2002). However, tomato powder has been shown to reduce prostate carcinogenesis in rats,

Phytochemicals are strong antioxidants that can modify metabolic activity, aid in the detoxification of carcinogens, and even influence processes in a tumor cell.

while lycopene supplements had no effect, even though they are considered the primary active ingredient in tomatoes (Boileau, 2003).

Whole foods are increasingly seen to be more beneficial to human health than isolated components such as those that are found in supplements. Evidence from studies show that increased consumption of carotenoid rich fruits and vegetables outperforms carotenoid dietary supplements in increasing LDL oxidation resistance, lowering DNA damage and inducing higher repair activity in human volunteers (Southon, 2000). Adding vitamins A, C and E dietary supplements to the diet of cancer treatment patients negatively affected the results of their radio and chemotherapies (Siegfried, 2003).

Nutraceuticals

When it comes to gathering secondary chemical products called phytochemicals, plants are experts. Phytochemicals can be taken by humans as food or as supplements and they serve to boost human health. Some plants contain compounds that have anti-inflammatory, enzyme inhibiting and bioactive features that greatly assist in countering the effects of oxidants (Lila, 2006). These phytochemicals and other health benefiting compounds are referred to as nutraceuticals.

The American Nutraceutical Association, which publishes the JANA Journal, gives a definition of nutraceuticals. Dr. Stephen DeFelice, the chair of the Foundation for Innovation in Medicine coined the term as a combination of nutrition and pharmaceutical in 1989. He stated that, Phytochemicals can be taken by humans as food or as supplements and they serve to boost human health.

"A nutraceutical is any substance that is a food or a part of a food and provides medical or health benefits, including the prevention and treatment of disease. Such products may range from isolated nutrients, dietary supplements and specific diets to genetically engineered designer foods, herbal products, and processed foods such as cereals, soups and beverages" (ANA, 2007).

Under American legislation, the term nutraceutical is commonly used in marketing and has no regulatory definition. In Canada, its meaning has been modified by Health Canada which defines nutraceutical as, "a product isolated or purified from foods, and generally sold in medicinal forms not usually associated with food and demonstrated to have a physiological benefit or provide protection against chronic disease" (ANA, 2007).

For the purpose of this paper, nutraceuticals will be considered to be compounds that have been identified in plants as having potential or proven health benefits. A frequently used term for any whole food product containing nutraceuticals is a functional food. Research shows that it is difficult to determine the protective benefits of individual components without taking the entire composition of a fruit or vegetable into consideration.

Also addressed are studies that suggest it is more beneficial to consume whole foods than to take a

supplement of the nutraceutical compound, but not addressed is the development and use of isolated nutraceuticals directly. This paper will focus on the practices that producers could adopt to increase the presence of these identified compounds in their product.

Research shows that it is difficult to determine the protective benefits of individual components without taking the entire composition of a fruit or vegetable into consideration. We will define compounds to be addressed for clarity, but they should be considered in terms of the whole food composition.

The below definitions have been borrowed from the Verified Health Quality web resource, which cites from Linus Pauling from Oregon State University, and the Harvard School of Public Health.

Vitamins

These substances are essential for normal body functions, cell function regulation, growth and development. They must be obtained from the diet, as the body cannot produce them in adequate amounts. Vitamins such as A, B6, C, and K are important to the human body and can be provided by vegetables.

Antioxidants

Antioxidants protect against highly reactive metabolic byproducts (known as free radicals) that cause cell damage in the human body. Vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals contained in fruits and vegetables each have antioxidant activity. Carotenoids, selenium, Vitamin C and E are all examples of antioxidants. They have been investigated for their specific role in the prevention of cancers, heart disease, eye disease and other human health conditions.

Phytochemicals

Plant chemicals considered to be beneficial to health but are not essential nutrients are called phytochemicals. Carotenoids and flavonoids are examples of compounds that are considered phytochemicals. Associations between disease prevention and individual phytochemicals remain unproven,

Vitamins, minerals and phytochemicals contained in fruits and vegetables each have antioxidant activity. although many studies show the benefit of a diet high in fruits and vegetables. Further research is needed to directly attribute specific health benefits to specific compounds.

Carotenoids

Carotenoids are a class of pigments that are responsible for giving plants a red, yellow or orange colour. Lutein, beta-carotene, lycopene and zeaxanthin are examples of carotenoids that are important to the human diet. For optimal absorption in the human body, they are best consumed cooked with a little fat after they have been chopped or pureed. They are a very important source of vitamin A. They are being investigated for their role in heart disease, some cancers, and eye disease.

Lycopene

Lycopene gives tomatoes and some fruits their red colour. Most lycopene in our diet is obtained from cooked and processed tomato products. Lycopene may play a preventative role in certain cancers and heart disease.

Lutein and Zeaxanthin

Dark green and leafy vegetables are the predominant source of lutein and zeaxanthin in the human diet. They may play a role in preventing oxidative damage to the eye, and may reduce the risk of age related macular degeneration.

Beta-Carotene

Beta-carotene is responsible for the orange and yellow colour often seen in fruits and vegetables. Carrots, squash, sweet potatoes and spinach are good sources of beta-carotene. It has been investigated for its role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease and certain cancers.

Flavonoids

This is a large family of phytochemical compounds produced by plants. High intake of flavonoid rich foods have been shown to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease, but whether this is due to specific, individual compounds remains to be proven. Anthocyanins are a subclass of flavonoids that give red, blue and purple berries and grapes their colour. They have been associated with improving blood

High intake of flavonoid rich foods have been shown to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease, but whether this is due to specific, individual compounds remains to be proven. vessel health in humans. Quercetin is one of the most widely distributed flavonoids in the human diet, found in apples, onions and citrus fruits. It may have antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity, but firm conclusions on its role in heart disease, arthritis and eye disease still need to be shown.

With the increased focus on nutraceuticals, there is much potential for new and exciting opportunities. Growers will have value added crop options and transitioning to organic crop production will be easier with the availability of information (Greenleaf, 1999).

Agronomic Considerations for Onions, Garlic, Tomatoes, Leafy Greens, Sweet Potato, Carrots and Sweet Corn

Production Practices to Achieve a Higher Phytonutrient Content

Soil type, mulching, irrigation, fertilization and other practices can affect the water and nutrient supply to the plant and therefore also the plant composition and quality. Other environmental factors include altitude, soil pH and salinity, ozone levels, insect injury and plant diseases. Finally, production practices also impact vegetable nutritional quality with differences present between organic and conventional systems, and greenhouse and field grown plants (Goldman, 1999).

Growth Conditions

Sweeney and Marsh (1971) evaluated the effect of herbicides on the provitamin A (carotene) content of carrots, squash, and spinach. Each vegetable was treated with the herbicides suggested by the Crops Protection Branch, Agricultural Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture; carrots were treated with CIPC, spinach with CDEC, and squash with amiben or dinoseb. Sampling occurred four or five times for each vegetable. It was found that CIPC-treated carrots were higher in carotene content than were the controls. Carotene content was lower in spinach in the treated samples. No significant differences were found in squash.

The addition of endomycorrhizal fungi to vegetables has been found to increase the uptake of trace elements in certain conditions. The fungi consisted of *Glomus Mosseae, Glomus Calendonium*, E3 spores and mycelium and was tested on a variety of vegetables, including carrots, onions, parsnips, and potatoes, among others. Plants were treated with mycorrhizal inoculum, with mycorrhizal inoculum coupled with additional rock phosphate, NPK fertilizer or wood ash, with only one of the three fertilizers, or were placed into a control group. Plants given only one of the three fertilizers had lower trace element uptake. When the mycorrhizal inoculum was applied, trace element content increased. However, when rock phosphate and NPK fertilizer were used in conjunction with the inoculum, the mycorrhizal colonization and uptake of trace elements (with the exception of phosphorus) was lower. When both wood ash and the inoculum were applied, trace element uptake was also increased (Ward et al., 2001).

Recommendations for maintaining and increasing the carotenoid content and other phytonutrients in vegetables are given by Rodriguez-Amaya (2003). Suggestions include the use of cultivars known to have higher levels of the beneficial compounds and that are appropriate to the local climate and geographical region. When harvested closer to maturity, carotenoid levels are usually highest. It is also noted that all The addition of endomycorrhizal fungi to vegetables has been found to increase the uptake of trace elements in certain conditions.

levels of carotenoids were higher in kale grown in an organic system than those grown conventionally (Rodriguez-Amaya, 2003). Others (Lester, 2007; Kadar, 2002; Kadar, 1988) emphasize the same factors but also note that crops grown in a sandy soil tend to accumulate fewer nutrients than those grown in clay soils. Nutrient concentrations also tend to be lower when the crops receive more rainfall or irrigation.

Organic and Conventional Methods of Production

The effect of organic production methods on the overall nutritive value has been of recent interest. Many studies have investigated the relative nutrient value of organically and conventionally produced food. As a number of literature reviews indicate, (Mitchell et al., 2007; Safefood Consulting, Inc., 2007; Bourn et al., 2002; Worthington, 1999) the results have not been consistent.

One study examined the differences in vitamin C, riboflavin and beta-carotene between five organically and conventionally grown green vegetables including Chinese mustard, Chinese kale, lettuce, spinach and swamp cabbage. Only in the swamp cabbage were the levels of all three nutrients higher in organically produced food than that which was conventionally produced. In general, food produced according to organic standards generally contained higher nutrient levels. However, the authors admit that the environmental and post-harvest factors which may have some influence on the numbers were poorly controlled (Ismail, 2003).

Another study, conducted over a period of two years, evaluated the nutritional value of apples, pears, potatoes, and corn on a fresh weight reading rather than

In general, food produced according to organic standards generally contained higher nutrient levels. However, the authors admit that the environmental and post-harvest factors which may have some influence on the numbers were poorly controlled. the usually used dry weight. The differences between the two methods of production were drastic. The average elemental accumulation in organic food was twice that of conventionally produced food (Smith, 1993).

Benbrook (2005), in the *State of Science Review*, also noted that, in general, organic farming practices were responsible for higher levels of total phenolics. Organic produce had higher elemental concentrations of zinc and magnesium and had higher total phenolic content in the majority of cases when cover crops were used. However, when the soil was tilled, the conventionally produced food tended to have more total phenolics.

Worthington (2001) examined the literature for values of nutrient content in organically and conventionally produced foods. To these values she applied various statistical analyses to determine significant differences and relative trends. In half of all cases, the number of data was too small for analysis to occur; when enough data was available, over half demonstrated increased nutrient value in organically produced food. Harmful nitrates, however, were found in lower rates in organics.

A plant contains higher levels of many phytochemicals and antioxidant compounds if it experienced some stress during its development whether from weed, insect or disease pressures, or from lower rates of fertilization. Organic fruits and vegetables that have been exposed to pests and other environmental insults may be lower in quality and not very appealing to the eye, but have a higher antioxidant capacity and bioactive potency. It has been observed that a plant growing in a stress-unregulated environment is able to accrue more active and medicinally effective secondary compounds. It is therefore necessary to acknowledge that manipulation of the environment has a bearing on the final product of the plant (Lila, 2006).

Plants produce these medicinally active compounds to aid in self-protection against diseases, pests and climatic conditions. Accordingly, plants under higher stress produce more of these

Synthetic fertilizers do not contain many important nutrients used by plants, and also may alter soil properties which may inhibit phytochemical uptake.

compounds so that the plant's vulnerability to their enemies (weeds, insects and drought conditions) is decreased. Garlic plants manufacture allicin compounds to protect against pathogens. These compounds have been found to be beneficial to humans also (Lila, 2006).

Research has challenges in that it seeks to grow and examine plants (their ability to produce phytochemicals) in conditions that are extremely regulated and unnatural.

One long term study at the University of Illinois met this challenge, and displayed evidence of this process through the study of flavonoid content in tomatoes by comparing conventional and organic agriculture practices. They observed that flavonoid levels in tomatoes increased under organic management. These results were attributed to the levels of available nitrogen with over-fertilization (as occurs in conventional systems) leading to a dilution effect, as rapid plant growth is prioritized. Plants with limited N were shown to accumulate more flavonoids than those that are well supplied. They concluded that over-fertilization, especially with synthetic fertilizers in which N is easily accessible to the plant may reduce the health benefits of tomatoes. It is worth noting that a reduction in total nitrogen from compost applications in the organic system did not reduce yields, but did increase flavonoid level (Mitchell et al., 2007).

The study revealed that quercetin content increased by 79% as a result of organic management over the ten year study, and kaempferol levels rose 97 percent. It also showed that the longer a field was managed organically, the greater the nutrient increase would be, with the largest increases coming after seven years of organic management. The team focused on long run impacts of typical and well defined organic and conventional cropping systems, using the same tomato cultivar on same soil, side by side, in university test plots (Mitchell et al., 2007).

Plants produce these medicinally active compounds to aid in selfprotection against diseases, pests and climatic conditions. The team considered that organic farms emphasize fertility through soil organic matter accumulation by using cover crops, manures and composts, and that they rely on the diversity of their soil ecosystem for nitrogen availability for plants. The conventional system used fertilizers containing soluble inorganic nitrogen and other nutrients that are more directly available to plants (Mitchell et al., 2007).

It had previously been proposed by Stamp (2003) that increased rates of crop growth and development with greater accumulation of biomass would

correlate with a decrease in the allocation of resources towards the production of plant starch, cellulose and non-nitrogen containing secondary metabolites.

The University of Illinois team pointed out that a number of factors can trigger biosynthetic pathways in

plants that lead to production of flavonoids. These include nutrient deficiency, pest attack, wounding, pathogens and radiation from sunlight. The research also states that prior to their study, well-quantified changes in tomato nutrient content over years in organic farming systems had not been previously reported. Their study has successfully shown that nutrient source can play a role in determining the level of antioxidants in tomatoes (Mitchell et al., 2007).

On the other hand it is argued that organic food is no healthier than conventional food. Both methods of production produce a healthy and quality food given that nutrients are supplied with correct timing and amounts to promote both yield and quality (Bruulsema, 2002).

A number of sources have indicated that today's produce has less nutritional value than the produce of the past. A brief article by the Organic Consumers Association (2001) provides statistics to this effect. Nutritional values listed in the USDA's food tables of the years 1963, 1975, and a more recent one showed significant decreases in fruit and vegetable nutrient concentrations throughout the years (Organic Consumers Association, 2001). OrganicAuthority.com (Accessed: 2007) also emphasizes the

A number of sources have indicated that today's produce has less nutritional value than the produce of the past.

decrease in nutritional value. It is pointed out that as plant breeders have selected for higher and bigger yield varieties, the nutritional value has been compromised. As it grows, produce takes up water and carbohydrates more quickly, but nutritional compounds are accumulated no faster, resulting in a nutritionally poor food (Godal, 2007).

Halweil (2007), writing for The Organic Center, echoes this point in his discussion of the negative impact that increasing yields have had on the nutrient density of the food supply. Citing many studies to support the difference in nutritional value between plants of the past and those of today, the author suggests several reasons for this decline in nutrient density. First, plant breeders have been selecting for higher yields and have considered lowering nutrient density to be an unimportant trade-off. Increased yield means that plants are able to expend less energy towards other plant functions such as growing root systems, and synthesizing and absorbing vitamins and minerals. Less vegetative tissue and faster growth limits the amount of nutrients available and the length of time for the nutrients to be transferred to the fruit. Pesticides and herbicides inhibit the ability of plants to take up and accumulate phytochemicals. Synthetic fertilizers do not contain many important nutrients used by plants, and also may alter soil properties which may inhibit phytochemical uptake. Over-fertilization results in the plant

Synthetic fertilizers do not contain many important nutrients used by plants, and also may alter soil properties which may inhibit phytochemical uptake.

having to take up more water, which causes a dilution effect. Manure, compost, or other organic matter releases nutrients more slowly, allowing the plant to accumulate phytochemicals more efficiently. Halweil says it is for these reasons that produce from organic plots has a higher nutrient density (Halweil, 2007).

There has now been an abundance of information released for public use through the mainstream media of the influence of organic cropping systems on the health benefiting compounds present in fresh fruits and vegetables. One large scale European Union study which was released this week should be peer reviewed and published within a year.

"The Integrated Project QualityLowInputFood aims to improve quality, ensure safety and reduce cost along the organic and "low input" food supply chains through research, dissemination and training activities. The project focuses on increasing value to both consumers and producers using a fork to farm approach. The project was initiated on March 1, 2004. It is funded by the European Union with a total budget of 18 million Euros. The research involves thirty-one research institutions, companies and universities throughout Europe and beyond" (Leifert - QLIF, 2007).

The London Times has reported on the press release from the study in October 2007. They state that "already one conclusion is clear: organically produced crops...usually contain more 'beneficial compounds' such as vitamins and antioxidants believed to help combat disease." This study took place over four years, with 27 million dollars of funding. One of the co-ordinators of the project pointed out that the differences were so striking that moving to organic food was the equivalent of eating an extra portion of fruits and vegetables every day. The study showed that organic tomatoes, cabbage, spinach and onions have more minerals, and 20 to 40 percent more antioxidants than conventional fruits and vegetables. This study was conducted on adjacent organic and conventional plots on a 293 hectare farm at Newcastle University, as well as other sites around Europe (Ungoed-Thomas, 2007).

The higher levels of extra antioxidants cited earlier in this article in the study by the University of Illinois again shows that levels can continue to increase the longer that a site is maintained organically (Mitchell et al., 2007).

Vegetables and fruit offer more nutritional benefits when harvested at their peak maturity. It is

Since harvesting means discontinuing their connection to their source of nutrients, they may start using up their own resources. inevitable for fruits and vegetables to start deteriorating soon after harvest when there is a discontinued connection to their source of nutrients. Plants may start using up their own resources. Fruit and vegetables are over 90% water but the process of respiration after harvest results in moisture loss thus leading to the deterioration in quality and spoilage from other microbial activities (Rickman et al., 2007).

In most cases, the shelf life of fruit and vegetables is very limited – generally just a few days. Storing vegetables by freezing and canning methods stop plant respiration, thereby reducing both moisture loss and micro-organism growth. Helping to preserve produce in this way allows for transport to other parts of the world (Rickman et al., 2007).

Processing Considerations

In vegetables, phenolic compound changes during processing, storage and cooking appear to vary and are dependent on the particular vegetable (Rickman et al., 2007).

Differences can be seen between the antioxidant capacity of fresh and frozen vegetables. Canning and pre-freezing processes may lead to the destruction of ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) as it is sensitive to exposure to heat. Heat treatment may also lead to oxidation usually occurring during heat treatments and storage. Since most frozen vegetables require additional cooking prior to consumption, there may be a further loss of nutrients; the extent of the loss is dependent on the type and length of time of cooking. The effects of storage on vegetables are dependent on the cultivar, season, growing location, area and harvest time. When it comes to ascorbic acid, freshly picked vegetables have a higher level. There is an 11 - 66% loss in wet weight for vegetables after they are cooked (Rickman et al., 2007).

Vegetable Specific Literature

Sweet Corn

Corn kernel tissue contains abundant levels of both carotenoids and tocopherols. In fresh market sweet corn the most basic carotenoids were found to be lutein and zeaxanthin. The genotype will influence the levels of lutein and tocopherol with some types of sweet corn offering more nutritional benefits to human beings than the others (Kurilich and Juvik, 1999).

There has been a shift in focus not only to the sweetness and tenderness of sweet corn but also to the nutritional value of corn to the consumer. There is a dearth of information on dosage regarding the prevention and treatment of diseases by the antioxidants lutein and tocopherol in corn. There is an assumption (from study) that **daily** consumption of 250g would provide the required level of beta-carotene to bring protection (Kurilich and Juvik, 1999).

There is a dearth of information on dosage regarding the prevention and treatment of diseases by the antioxidants in corn, lutein or tocopherol.

Health Benefits

The cultivar Jubilee sweet corn (more yellow) is said to have more $\dot{\alpha}$ -carotene and carotenoid pigment (J. Agric Food Chem. 1981). In another report by Dewanto et al. (2002), processed sweet corn was said to have more antioxidant capabilities as compared to the non-processed sweet corn.

Growth

A three year experiment was conducted on five replicates of organic and conventional treatments. Sweet corn varieties of L. *var. saccharata* Sunnyvee or Pride and Joy were examined. This study showed that the sweet corn treated conventionally with pesticides, lime and N, P and K out produced the organic treatment of lime, composted manure and insect control applications. No difference in yield, vitamin C or E content in the kernels was found in any year. Only extractable Mg was affected by treatments, with a higher concentration found in organic sweet corn plots (Warman et al., 1998).

Sweet corn is mostly consumed in North America for its taste, yet it is still a good source of vitamins C and E and some essential minerals. In one study (Termeer, 1994), the yield and macronutrient uptake of sweet corn was evaluated by comparing corn fertilized with NPK, and various race track manure based composts. Differences were found between the plants' responses to compost, but the corn treated with NPK yielded more than all composts and also had the greatest uptake of nutrients.

Warman (1995) also investigated the effects of five rates and incorporation of dairy manure composts on yield, soil fertility and nutrient uptake. They found similar results to the earlier study by Termeer (1994); the commercial fertilizer provided the highest yield, even when the compost application was based on 200% of the total N added as fertilizer. The study indicated that these experiments took place on sites of relatively high fertility, as indicated by the yield produced by the zero fertilizer control zone (Warman, 1995).

Analysis of three years of data in the 1998 study showed that there were very few differences found in plant elements or extractable soil nutrients caused by the two treatments. These results surprised the authors since inorganic

Sweet corn is mostly consumed in North America for its taste, yet it is still a good source of vitamins C and E and some essential minerals.

fertilizer applications to low fertility soils tend to provide high nutrient uptake, favouring the conventional system of production especially when considering that the sites were only used once. The senior author is now finding that the long term application of composts to the same plots is producing higher soil fertility of some elements, based on equivalent N applications and similar plant growth in comparison to conventionally fertilized vegetables (Warman, 1997). This study does show that seasonal variations in the weather have a greater influence on plant production than the source and amount of compost applied.

A study by Asami et al. (2003), found that corn grown using organic and sustainable production practices contained higher total phenolics, such as flavonols and kaempferol, than corn grown using conventional methods. This may be explained by the fact that plants produce these antimicrobial compounds in response to pathogenic attack, which is less prevalent in conventional agricultural methods where pesticides and herbicides are used. Additionally, frozen samples of fruit contained higher total phenolic levels than air-dried samples (Asami et al., 2003).

Bulb Crops

Garlic

Allicin (thiosulfinate) is a compound found in garlic that contains sulfur and is known for its health benefits to humans. This compound gives garlic its characteristic taste and aroma. It is produced when the physical structure of the bulb is changed through, for example, crushing or cutting. Because allicin is highly unstable (starts decaying in 4 days), it cannot be used as a primary compound. Researchers have countered this by using a method called supercritical fluid extraction (high pressure and low temperature) (Ryback et al., 2004).

Benefits

Ali et al. (2000) stated in their report that there is some inconsistency regarding the effectiveness of garlic against hypertension. Conversely, a study by Mousa and Mousa (2007) stated that when garlic is taken together with vitamin C, it brings down marginally high blood pressure.

Garlic may have the ability to retard the development of oral pathogens and so may be effective against periodontis (Bakri and Douglas, 2005). Garlic is said to have the ability to affect cardiovascular, cancer, hepatic and other microbial infections (Banerjee et al., 2003).

When eaten raw, garlic may be effective against the development of thrombosis (Ali, 1995). In another report (Fleischauer et al., 2000), raw or cooked garlic has been shown to have an effect against stomach and colorectal cancers.

Due to the attention paid to the beneficial antioxidant effects of garlic, it was expected that there would be research into how producers might be able to increase the allicin content of their garlic crop. Very little was found in this regard. Much of the garlic literature focused on the breakdown and composition of the beneficial compounds after processing, but no relevant research into production practices was uncovered.

Onions

At 44 million tones the onion is second in line to tomatoes on the world's most produced vegetable. With more emphasis on disease prevention than cure, there has been an increased interest by scientists on the high content of polyphenolic flavonoids in onions (Mogren et al., 2007). Onion and leek are high in flavonoids (Tarwadi, 2005). Even though the onion has high nutritional value, it is largely consumed for its unique flavour and its ability to improve the flavour of other foods (Randle, 1997).

At 44 million tones the onion is second only to tomatoes as the world's most produced vegetable. Soil sulfur (S) content however can influence the flavour of a vegetable – e.g. onions grown in soil that has high sulfur content will have a stronger flavour/smell (Brecht et al., 2006).

Health Benefits

The carbohydrates found in onions are fructose, glucose and sucrose (Mogren et al., 2007). The antioxidant flavonoids that are present in onions may reduce heart disease. The flavonol called quercetin is found in high levels in onions mostly in the outer dry scales (Williamson et al., 1996).

According to Griffiths et al. (2002), the onion has anti-carcinogenic, antithrombotic, antiplatelet, antiasthmatic and antibiotic abilities. The theosulfinates in onions have anti-microbial properties. Furthermore, the onion is effective against some bacteria like *Bacillus subtilis*, *Salmonella* and *E. coli*.

Growth

The minimum growing temperature for bulbing is between 10°C and 35°C (Randle, 1997). Higher levels of sulphate are ideal for good early growth while low sulfur (S) fertilization of soil may lead to retarded growth and bulbing (Randle and Bussard, 1993).

The cultivar genetics determine the uptake of sulfur and its integration inside the onion. Lower temperatures and wetter conditions result in lower sulfur intake, making the onion less pungent (Ketter The cultivar genetics determine the uptake of sulfur and its integration inside the onion.

and Randle, 1998). The sulfur in the soil has an impact on the carbohydrate composition of the onion

(McCallum and Grant, 2001). Too much water increases the chance of bulb rots in maturing onions. For this reason, restricted irrigation improves the storage quality of the onion.

Low nitrogen (N) fertilization may however lead to decreased yields (Mogren et al., 2007). Bumping up levels of N supplied to the onions has little effects on the onions' carbohydrate (quercetin glucosides) content (Mogren et al., 2007). N supply also has no bearing on the flavonol content and does not influence the onion size (Mogren et al., 2007). The grower has to exercise caution because it has been proven that N fertilization at the end of the growing season leads to increased rots in the bulbs (Mogren et al., 2007). Soil sulfur content can influence the flavour of a vegetable such that onions grown in soil with high sulfur content will have a stronger flavour and smell (Brecht et al., 2006).

In order to discover to examine the effects of different levels of CO_2 on the total biomass, phytochemical and folate levels, and the onion's sensory characteristics, nine onion cultivars were grown hydroponically in environmental growth chambers at elevated CO_2 (1200 ppm) and ambient CO_2 (400 ppm) in a study by Thompson et al. (2004). Higher carbon dioxide levels resulted in a higher biomass and increased total flavonols. The cultivars, 'Purplette' and 'Cal 296' had the highest levels of phytochemicals which were measured at more than 4000 mg/kg. These levels increased by 41% when the onions were grown in elevated CO_2 . Folate remained unaffected by the level of carbon dioxide. Sensory changes were evident in the cultivar 'Choesty', but not in any others (Thompson et al., 2004).

Mogren (2006) analyzed the effects of cultivar, nitrogen fertilization, lifting time, curing, and the cultivation system on quercetin content in the yellow onion. It was found that global solar radiation towards the end of the bulbing phase resulted in the highest levels of quercetin. Differences between cultivars yielded only inconsistent results. High levels of nitrogen did not change the concentrations of

Onions lifted early had lower concentrations of quercetin than later lifted onions, but these differences disappeared after curing. quercetin available, and it was suggested that if applied with the right amount and timing, nitrogen use could be reduced. Onions lifted early had lower concentrations of quercetin than later lifted onions, but these differences disappeared after curing. These results were largely dependent on whether or not the leaves were fallen or erect, with those onions with

fallen leaves having higher levels of quercetin. Differences in quercetin levels between organic and inorganically fertilized onions did not reach significance, nor was there any relationship between soil water content and quercetin concentration (Morgren, 2006).

Having selenium in one's soil should not be a major problem because the onion is tolerant to it, as low levels of selenium are necessary for the onion roots to take in S from the soil (Kopsell and Randle, 1997).

In order to compare elemental accumulation and total flavonol content between the two systems, Thompson et al. (2005) grew spring onions both hydroponically and in the field. Calcium, magnesium, potassium and nitrogen were analyzed weekly or bi-weekly as wet matter and were found to decrease as the onions approached maturity. Total flavonol content however, increased as the season progressed. Similar results were found between the hydroponically grown onions and field onions.

Harvest

Damage due to mechanical loading can cause surface lesions and internal bruising in onions. This is known to result in nutrient losses and decay (Kopsell and Randle, 1997). Removing roots too soon

after harvest or breaking off the neck prior to full maturity has been known to limit the bulb storage duration (Kopsell and Randle, 1997). It was also found that onion bulbs left in the field after foliar lodging decreased bulb storage life and quality. Late lifted onions had fewer chances of sprouting than early lifted ones (Mogren et al., 2007).

Removing roots too soon after harvest or breaking off the neck prior to full maturity has been known to limit the bulb storage duration.

Field drying may increase level of fructose and removal of roof and top may also increase glucose, fructose and fructane levels (Kaack et al., 2004).

Storage

Caution must be exercised in avoiding higher mean temperatures during storage as they limit the bulb dormancy (McCallum and Grant, 2001). High respiration, resumption of growth and pathogen are the major three things that cause bulb deterioration (Chope et al., 2006).

Root Crops

Carrots

In Canada, all regions grow carrots because of its ability to adapt to long cool growing seasons. Ontario produces about 44% of the carrots followed by Quebec with 35% (Howatt, 2004). The carrot is a biennial plant and is a member of the Apiaceae (formerly Umbelliferae), the parsley family). Carrots are a popular vegetable world wide.

Health Benefits

Carrots contain β -carotene, a precursor for vitamin A, which is responsible for their orange colour. Carrots contain the highest amount of beta-carotene (Pearson, 1982). Vitamin A is a

In Canada, all regions grow carrots because of its ability to adapt to long, cool growing seasons.

potent antioxidant, and it is widely believed to be able to shield the cells from oxidative damage and reducing the risks of chronic diseases (Rao et al., 1999).

There is much discussion on whether the carrot should be consumed raw or cooked to maximize its nutritional value to humans. Unless a carrot is juiced or cooked, the body is not able to break down the

Unless a carrot is juiced or cooked, the body is not able to break down the cellular nature of the carrot. cellular nature of the carrot (Hornero-Mendez and Minguez-Mosquera, 2007). While cooking lowers the carotenoid content in carrots, cooked carrots release more carotenoids to the consumer than raw carrots. Rodriguez-Amaya (1996) stated that the bioavailability of beta-carotene was only 5% in raw carrots.

Growth and Maturation

Although most carrots in Canada are grown in organic soils, it is still common for Ontario carrots to be grown in non-organic soils. The ideal temperature for carrots is between 15° and 20°C, with the minimum at 5°C and the maximum at 24°C. Carrot germination takes place between 6 and 21 days after planting and maturity occurs between 70 and 120 days. "Baby carrots" is a type of carrot that has grown in popularity since the 1990's. These comprise of pre-washed and pre-packaged ready to eat baby carrots (Howatt, 2004).

Carrots will accumulate more glucose and fructose when grown in narrow ridges and flat land. With carrot tap roots being very sensitive to soil compaction, ridging serves an important function in loosening the soil (Evers et al., 1997; Pietola, 1995).

High temperatures adversely affect carrot production through low yields and slow growth rates. As far as moisture is concerned, carrots need water especially during germination and root enlargement. In most cases irrigation is necessary (Howatt, 2004).

Organically grown carrots...have been found to have higher levels of vitamin B1 and beta-carotene content compared to those fertilized by mineral fertilizers. Organically grown carrots, in a study by Leclerc, Miller, Joliet and Rocquelin (1991), have been found to have higher levels of vitamin B1 and beta-carotene content compared to those fertilized by mineral fertilizers. Warman and Havard (1997) state that crop cultivar, cropping history, timing of

various stages (e.g. fertilization, harvesting), handling and storage have some influence on the final nutrient content.

Packaging and Storage

After harvest, carrots may experience some loss in sweetness and carotenoids. In order to prevent these changes, carrots may have to be stored at 0°C with a relative humidity of about 93-98% (Chen, Peng and Chen, 1995). More research is necessary to see what type of storage and transportation systems the growers may need in order to limit the loss of nutrients or quality degradation in the carrots.

Tomatoes

All over the world, tomatoes occupy a significant position in agriculture and as well human diet. Second to potatoes, tomatoes are the most produced and consumed vegetable (Moreno et al., 2006). Though tomatoes are eaten fresh it has been established that over 80% of tomatoes are eaten in the form of the following by-products (Rao et al., 1999), tomato juice, paste, puree, ketchup, sauce and soups.

Health Benefits

Moreno et al, (2006) state that the tomato is not only the largest source of lycopene in the US, but also ranks third and fourth as the source of vitamin C and vitamin A respectively. Compared to other vegetables it has high levels of lycopene, folate, vitamin C and vitamin E.

The carotenoids found in carrots and tomatoes were studied by a team of Harvard researchers. An analysis of over 124 000 men and women participating in a ten-year study found that those whose diets were high in lycopene and alpha-carotene, had a 20-25% lower risk of lung cancer, especially among current smokers (Willoughby, 2000).

An extensive study published in the spring of 2007 may cast doubt on claims that lycopene has protective benefits against prostate cancer. This study, conducted by the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center in Seattle, found that there was no correlation between the levels of lycopene and prostate cancer in 28 000 men who had no history of prostate cancer when the study began 8 years ago. The researchers found no significant differences in blood levels of lycopene between those later diagnosed with prostate cancer and those who were not (Peters et al., 2007). Peters et al. (2007) stated that tomatoes are still healthy and that their antioxidant properties could still be proven to have health benefits, and that this study was simply an incremental step to discover what role nutrients play in disease.

Genotype Considerations

There are differences in genotypes in terms of the level of lycopene found in a tomato. Tomatoes seem to have had the bulk of research attention when it comes to studying specific varieties for nutraceutical traits, both in the peer-reviewed and grey literature. Research in this area could be done for all other vegetables considered.

The highest levels of lycopene are found in cherry tomato types which are field grown (mean = 91.9 mg kg⁻¹) whereas greenhouse grown cherry tomatoes are lower in lycopene (mean = 56.1 mg kg⁻¹). Greenhouse grown cluster and round tomatoes on the other hand are higher than field grown (respective means= 30 mg kg⁻¹ vs 25.2 mg kg⁻¹ (Kuti, 2005).

For specific levels for different tomato varieties (plum, cherry and round type, grown in greenhouse or field) see Appendix A.

Dorais et al. (2001) also state that the compound content is determined by cultivar, crop management and stage of fruit ripening at harvest. Orange cultivars have a higher content of carotenoids, vitamin A and volatile compounds, but have ten times less lycopene than red cultivar counterparts. Dumas et al. (2003) also confirmed that the quality of the

The highest levels of lycopene are found in cherry tomato types which are field grown (mean = 91.9 mg kg -1) whereas greenhouse grown cherry tomatoes are lower in lycopene (mean = 56.1 mg kg -1).

tomato fruit is influenced by cultivars, environmental factors such as light and temperature, composition of the nutrient solution and crop management styles.

Growth and Maturation

Martinez-Valvarde et al. (2002) pointed out that agronomic, geographic and seasonal factors have some influence on the levels of lycopene and other phenolic compounds in the tomato. They also highlight the need to increase the understanding of the co-relation between these factors.

Bruulsema et al. (2004) conducted a study in which he added higher levels of phosphorus (45 and 150 pounds P_2O_5/A) to already highly fertile soils to determine its effect on the accumulation of phytochemicals in tomatoes and apples. In both fruits, the effect of added P seemed to be dependent on the weather. Levels of lycopene increased with corresponding increases in the level of phosphorus in tomatoes grown in years of higher stress. In years of lower stress, no response to additional phosphorus was found.

Temperatures below 12°C have been shown to greatly reduce lycopene biosynthesis and high temperatures above 32°C bring it to a halt (Dumas et al., 2003). While lycopene development is also enhanced by light, direct excessive sunlight inhibits

Levels of lycopene increased with corresponding increases in the level of phosphorus in tomatoes grown in years of higher stress.

it. Lycopene content increases sharply during the ripening period, from the pink stage onwards and may be influenced by plant growth regulators. The ideal temperatures for lycopene and carotene synthesis are 22-25°C and tomatoes grown in the open field had higher lycopene content than tomatoes grown under glass and plastic tunnel (Dumas et al., 2003).

...greenhouse grown tomatoes have lower vitamin C content than their field grown counterparts. Light intensity seems to have some influence on vitamin C content. Dumas et al. (2003) observed that ascorbic acid increased by as much as 66% when mature green plants were moved from the shade into the sunshine. The study also points out that greenhouse grown tomatoes have lower vitamin C content than their field grown counterparts. Very little information exists on the impact of seasonal temperature variations on antioxidant activity (Raffo et al., 2006).

Raffo et al. (2006) point out that there is lack of information regarding the influence of the interactions between the environment and agronomic practices on the accumulation of antioxidants during the maturity stage. Over heating or overexposure to sunlight may inhibit lycopene formation (Raffo et al., 2006).

For red and pink large tomatoes, low levels of soil water led to increased lycopene synthesis but had no effect on β-carotene synthesis (Dumas et al., 2003). The tomato, like most crops, is sensitive to salinity (Foolad, 2004). Conversely, in another study by Dumas et al. (2003), tomato fruits irrigated with increasing levels of controlled salinity showed a rise in the lycopene content. A need for further research to confirm these results is needed.

When chicken manure and grass clover mulch are used as a form of fertilization, the total phenolic and ascorbic acid content of tomatoes is raised by 17.6% and 29% compared to the usage of mineral nutrients. High chloride levels reduce the mean lycopene content by as much as 40%. Where ammonium treatment is used the tomato antioxidant activity is 14% lower compared to the other treatments (Toor, Savage and Anuschka, 2006).

Fruit lycopene content has been known to increase by as much as 30% when the level of nitrogen (N) was increased. Similarly, most N fertilizers enhance carotene accumulation in plants, while increased phosphorus (P) levels also increase the lycopene accumulation in the plants. A deficiency in potassium (K) may adversely affect the rate of carotenoid synthesis. Intensively applying supplementary N may lead to a decrease in vitamin C When chicken manure and grass clover mulch are used as a form of fertilization, the total phenolic and ascorbic acid content of tomatoes is raised by 17.6% and 29% compared to the usage of mineral nutrients.

and this could be due to increased foliage. Again, there is need for more research in this area (Dumas et al., 2003).

The temperature sensitivity of B vitamins is crop specific. Tomatoes, along with other warm season crops, produce more B vitamins at the higher temperatures of 27°C to 30°C than at lower temperatures.

Light intensity does not affect B vitamin accumulation. However, increasing light intensity will increase the concentration of vitamin C as more sugars leading to vitamin C are produced. The amount of vitamin A precursors (carotenoids) and chlorophyll decrease with increasing light intensity. While

the temperature increases, beta-carotene (vitamin A) production, which protects chlorophyll from photobleaching, is inhibited (Gross, 1991).

Light intensity does not affect B vitamins. However, increasing light intensity will increase the concentration of vitamin C, but will decrease the amount of vitamin A precursors (carotenoids), and chlorophyll.

Harvest Practices for Higher Nutrient Retention

Nutritional quality and flavour can be lost through delays between harvest and consumption or processing. Temperature, relative humidity or concentrations of O_2 , CO_2 and C_2H_4 outside of optimal ranges will increase the magnitude of the losses (Lee, 2000). For example, a study examining the affect of harvest dates on lycopene content in tomatoes found that lycopene synthesis is inhibited in temperatures exceeding 30° C. But they found that lycopene levels could recover if the fruit was left in

the field and harvested after they had not encountered prolonged, excessive temperatures. The researchers harvested tomatoes on three separate dates, and recorded the following levels:

Harvest dates	Average lycopene levels
June 18, 2002	64.9 mg kg^{-1}
June 25, 2002	35.5 mg kg^{-1}
July 9, 2002	68.9 mg kg^{-1}

The harvest on June 25^{th} had the highest preceding temperatures, with an average between 28° C to 32° Cs, with the maximum temperature reaching 40° C to 43° C. This study indicated that strong radiation is harmful for lycopene synthesis (Brandt et al., 2006).

This study also addressed the relationship between colour and lycopene content. Average lycopene levels at different stages of maturity can be recorded according to maturity classifications based on colour. Between each stage of ripeness there is a 2 day gap (Brandt et al., 2006).

Stage

1) Mature green - fruits are mature and light to dark green

```
- Lycopene= 0.1 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}

2) Breaker – not more than 10% yellow or pink colour

- Lycopene = 5.5 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}

3) Turning – 10-30% yellow or pink colour

- Lycopene = 15.3 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}

4) Pink – 30- 60% pink or red colour

- Lycopene = 25.4 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}

5) Red – 60-90% red colour

- Lycopene = 39.8 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}

6) Deep red – more than 90% red colour

- Lycopene = 59.0 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}
```

The variety used for measurements was Lemance F1 Round tomato.

As tomatoes ripen, chlorophylls are broken down and carotenes are built up. Already the chlorophyll and carotene have identified reflection spectra. Using these already known spectra, it is possible to measure the intensity of chlorophyll and carotenes. A light imaging system could be placed on a conveyor belt and therefore sort the vegetables and or fruit according to their lycopene or chlorophyll content (Polder et al., 2004). The online spectral imaging system would be able to measure the contents of the following in tomato:

- Lycopene
- B-carotene
- Lutein
- Chlorophyll a
- Chlorophyll b (Polder et al., 2004).

Post Harvesting and Storage

While the tomato weight decreases when stored at room temperature for 7 days, the lycopene content increases compared to that of tomatoes stored at low temperatures. Tomatoes stored at 12°C contain a higher lycopene content compared to those stored at 5°C (Javanmardi and Kubota, 2006). Again there is need for more studies on the influence of storage temperature on the tomato's antioxidant capabilities.

Processing

Processing and cooking can change the nutrient quality of foods. Fat-soluble compounds such as lycopene can be stabilized or enhanced through cooking. Water-soluble vitamins such as vitamin C and folate can be lost at high rates when cooking water is discarded (Lee, 2000).

Regular consumption of lycopene has been linked to decreased incidence of prostate cancer, lung cancer, digestive tract cancer and cardiovascular disease. It has been shown to

While the tomato weight decreases when stored at room temperature for 7 days, the lycopene content increases compared to that of tomatoes stored at low temperatures.

induce cell-to-cell communication, modulate hormones and immune systems and affect other metabolic pathways (Kuti, 2005).

The bioavailability of *cis* isomers is higher in processed tomato products than in unprocessed fresh tomatoes. Isomerisation and oxidation are the main causes of lycopene degradation during processing. Isomerisation converts all-*trans* isomers into *cis* isomers, which results in an unstable, energy rich state. In fresh tomato fruit, lycopene occurs in all-*trans* configuration (Kuti, 2005).

Commercial tomato canners and processors use microwave hot break procedures (simultaneous high shear, high temperature of 100°C and evaporation to extract tomato juice). This produces a tomato extract with better colour and consistency and which is more stable due to the enzyme de-activation caused by the procedure (Kuti, 2005).

It has been suggested that cherry tomatoes may be useful varieties for processing. Improvements in nutritional and health benefits of tomatoes could be realized by incorporating cherry tomatoes into breeding programs. All cherry tomato varieties tested, whether they were field grown or greenhouse grown had higher lycopene content than any round or cluster tomato type, regardless of the cultivation system (Kuti, 2005).

This large variation in total lycopene in the study by Kuti et al., 2005, can be attributed to differences in genotype, sun exposure and other environmental factors, cultivation factors such as fertilizer and water used, which taken together can greatly influence carotenoid biosynthesis. Lycopene content is responsible for 80-90% of the total carotenoids in red-ripe tomatoes. The difference in lycopene content of cherry tomatoes grown in the greenhouse and in the field may have been due to excessive greenhouse temperatures, which exceeded 32°C during the study. High temperatures can inhibit lycopene biosynthesis (Kuti, 2005).

Leafy Greens

As a diverse group of vegetables, leafy greens vary considerably in their respective nutritional value with some containing naturally high levels of certain nutraceuticals. For example, broccoli, spinach and green cabbage are high in flavonoids (Tarwadi, 2005) and so, have a high antioxidant capacity. Compared to other vegetables, canned spinach contains the least amount of vitamin B (Rickman et al., 2007).

Spinach, cabbage, broccoli and other cool season crops produce more B vitamins at low rather than high temperatures.

Kale

Health Benefits

Kale is an excellent source of a variety of carotenoids including β -carotene, provitamin A and lutein (de Azevedo and Rodriguez-Amaya, 2005). Nutraceuticals in kale have been shown to reduce the risk of eye diseases and lung cancer (Kopsell et al., 2007).

A study by Kopsell et al. (2003) examined the influence of soil sulfur levels on various nutritional components of kale including elemental accumulation, sulfur compound production, and the accumulation of carotenoid pigments. Sulfur was applied to greenhouse grown kale in the form of a nutrient solution in concentrations of 4, 8, 16, 32, and 64

Kale is an excellent source of a variety of carotenoids including β-carotene, provitamin A and lutein.

mg S/L. When soil sulfur levels were low, the sulfur content in the leaves was also low. However, calcium and magnesium, two beneficial elements for our health, were found to be present in higher amounts when soil sulfur was low. Production of sulfur compounds, which give *Brassica* vegetables their characteristic bitter taste, declined with decreasing sulfur levels. No relationship was found between the soil sulfur level and the presence of lutein, β -carotene, chlorophyll *a*, and chlorophyll *b* (Kopsell et al., 2003).

Genetic variability between twenty two kale and collard cultivars was investigated with respect to their individual rates of elemental accumulation, to help define the relative nutritional value of each cultivar. The elements examined were calcium, magnesium, potassium, iron, and zinc. All types were grown

over two years under similar fertilization after which leaf tissues were analyzed for each of the elements in question. Although variability existed between the two years of growth, the relative cultivar ranking remained consistent between the years. No one type of kale or collard ranked among the highest across all elements. In general, the results of this study indicate that the cultivar, 'Redbor F1' had the highest elemental accumulation (Kopsell et al., 2004).

Growth and Maturation

The temperature sensitivity of B vitamins is crop specific. Spinach, cabbage, broccoli and other cool season crops produce more B vitamins at low rather than high temperatures (Gross, 1991).

The concentration levels of lutein, beta-carotene, chlorophyll and vitamin B reach their optimum levels in the leaves between the first and third week (Lefsrud et al., 2007). The study states that baby kale leaves have lower carotenoid accumulation compared to mature leaves. This is confirmed in a study by de Azevedo and Rodriguez-Amaya (2005) where leaves harvested closer to maturity contained more β carotene, compared to less mature leaves. The study also pointed out that with increased exposure to sunlight and high temperatures, there as a corresponding increase in carotenoid accumulation in the leaves. However, if exposure to sunlight and temperature is too high, photo-degradation may lead to the reduction to the carotenoid concentration. As a result, the leaves record lower levels of carotenoids due to photo-degradation in the summer.

The concentration of lutein, betacarotene, chlorophyll and vitamin B reach their optimum levels in the leaves between the first and third week. Nitrogen levels in the soil may alter the plant composition more than any other element (Kopsell et al., 2007). Kale leaf tissues realize more biomass when nitrogen is more available. Carotenoid levels were not affected by changing rates of nitrogen application.

In a 2005 study into the carotenoid composition of kale from conventional farms compared with kale from organic farms, the major carotenoids identified were violaxanthin, neoxanthin, beta-carotene and lutein. In kale grown on conventional farms, the levels of beta-carotene and lutein were significantly higher in the mature leaves; violaxanthin was unusually high in the young leaves and neoxanthin was the same at both stages of maturity. In samples taken from the organic farms, the carotenoid compositions were essentially the same for young and mature leaf stages (de Azevado and Rodriguez-Amaya, 2005).

Carotenoid concentration of minimally processed kale for market was significantly higher in the summer grown kale than kale grown in winter. Beta-carotene concentration however, did not differ with the season. This is due to the fact that exposure to sunlight and high temperatures enhances biosynthesis increasing carotenoid concentrations. In this work, vegetables were grown under polyethylene roofs, which may have protected the plants from excessive sunlight over the summer, thus favouring carotenogenesis over photo-degradation. On the other hand, these roofs may have restricted sunlight access for the plants during the winter months, thereby limiting carotenoid accumulation (de Azevado, 2005).

Harvesting

In order to capture more carotenoid nutrition from the leaves, the producer should aim at harvesting kale as close as possible to maturity (Lefsrud et al., 2007).

Storage

During storage spinach loses between 13 and 46% of its dry weight original thiamine content in temperatures between 4°C and 6°C (Rickman et al., 2007).

In order to capture more carotenoid nutrition from the leaves, the producer should aim at harvesting kale as close as possible to maturity.

Processing

Minimal processing does involve high temperatures as well as shredding and cutting, which can expose the plant to oxidative degradation and rapid biochemical and physiological changes (de Azevado, 2005).

When kale was monitored during storage for 5-7 days at 7°C to 9°C, beta-carotene was reduced by 14%, lutein composition dropped by 27%, violaxanthin decreased by 20% and neoxanthin was lowered 31%. Minimal processing, season and maturity and whether a farm is organic or conventional can have an influence on kale carotenoid composition (de Azevado, 2005).

Broccoli

Broccoli is one of the world's most important vegetables. In Canada it is particularly popular, with 60% of the adult participants in a health survey mentioning broccoli as part of a healthy diet (Howatt, 2004). Broccoli ranks 19th out of 23 vegetables in consumption per world capita (Sun et al., 2007).

Health Benefits

Broccoli has a high antioxidant capacity due to its high concentrations of vitamins A and B. Vitamin A has been known to have one of the greatest

Broccoli ranks 19th out of 23 vegetables in consumption per world capita.

antioxidant activities (Sun et al., 2007). The isothicyanate in broccoli is a potentially anticarcinogenic phytochemical (Steck et al., 2007). Eating fresh broccoli is the best way to fully utilize its antioxidant capacity since cooking destroys the enzymes associated with phenolic biosynthesis (Vajello et al., 2003).

Growth and Maturation

In the study by Lisiewska and Kmiecik (2006) (Poland), it was disclosed that N content in the soils has an impact on the size and quality of the broccoli heads. The study also revealed that increasing the N doses from 80 N ha⁻¹ to 120 N ha⁻¹ raised the level of nitrates, a toxic compound, by 44% in the broccoli heads and may delay the harvest.

Eating fresh broccoli is the best way to fully utilize its antioxidant capacity since cooking destroys the enzymes associated with phenolic biosynthesis.

The growing season influences the accumulation of free glucose, fructose and sucrose levels in the broccoli (Rosa et al., 2001). Lower levels are recorded in the summer/winter season since it is cooler than the spring/summer season.

Storage

Broccoli is a perishable vegetable so proper storage after harvest is crucial. When stored at 0°C and 95% relative humidity the green colour is maintained (Zhuang et al., 1997). High temperatures may lead to a loss of nutrients in the broccoli (chlorine and protein). In a study by Peter Toivonen (1997), immediate low temperatures for the heads after harvest were recommended to preserve them.

Lettuce

At a value of \$315 million dollars a year in trade, lettuce is among the most common leafy vegetables in the USA, (Santos et al., 2004). In Ontario, the most common types of lettuce are head, romaine and red and green lettuce. (Food Safety Risk Assessment Foods of Plant Origin (OMAFRA), 2001). According to this ministry website, lettuce can be grown in both organic and mineral soils. In the case of heavy mineral soils, organic matter can be added in.

Health Benefits

Romaine lettuce is rich in vitamin content and minerals. It contains vitamins A, C, B1, B2, manganese

and chromium and is a source of dietary fibre (http://flavoursofindia.tripod.com/lettuce.html). The outer open green leaves are highly recommended for their nutritional value as opposed to the inner white ones. The outer ones are purported to have enjoyed direct exposure to the sun and are therefore high in

At a value of \$315 million dollars a year in trade, lettuce is among the most common leafy vegetables in the USA.

vitamin and chlorophyll content. In another report by Hohl et al. (2001), it is stated that head lettuce contains glycosides which are largely concentrated on the outer leaves and have antioxidative activity. The high magnesium content in the lettuce is good for the brain, nerves and muscular tissue. Lettuce has an impact on conditions such as insomnia, constipation, pregnancy and lactation, and menstrual disorders.

Growth

Rattler et al. (2005) conducted a study investigating links between type and amount of fertilizer on the accumulation of some harmful and beneficial compounds in lettuce in the spring and summer of 2004 in Germany. For all fertilizers, including fresh Lettuce has an impact on conditions such as insomnia, constipation, pregnancy and lactation, and menstrual disorders.

farmyard manure, composted farmyard manure, fermented nettle extract, and calcium ammonium nitrate, it was found that higher applications of fertilizer resulted in increased nitrate levels within the plant. However, organically fertilized lettuce contained lower levels of nitrate than non-organically fertilized lettuce. Lutein, β -carotene, and polyphenol levels were lower with the manure fertilizers. However, increased applications of all fertilizers increased lutein levels at both times and β -carotene content in the summer, while composted manure was the only fertilizer that increased β -carotene in the

spring. Polyphenols were not increased with more fertilizer, although there was some seasonal variation evident. Finally, the type of fertilizer used had no effect on the amount of bacteria present on the lettuce (Rattler et al., 2005).

Lettuce, like radish, is able to accumulate nitrate from the soil (McKeehen et al., 1996) but this has been said to lead to methemoglobin (inability to carry and circulate oxygen in the blood and other carcinogenic conditions).

Greenhouse lettuce is said to contain more protein than field grown lettuce (McKeehen et al., 1996). When it comes to growing conditions, the crop season has more impact on the lettuce growth than nitrate accumulation (Pavlou et al., 2007).

Phosphorus fertilization is essential if there is a deficiency in phosphorus. This raises an environmental concern since phosphorus

Greenhouse lettuce is said to contain more protein than field grown lettuce.

is immobile and has potential continuance in the soil (Santos et al., 2004). Organic matter, calcium and magnesium carbonates could be a better alternative. Because of the shallow roots of lettuce, direct application of P to the plant is more effective (Santos et al., 2004).

Spinach

Bozak (2006) conducted a study to determine if the stressors that are placed upon plants in organic farming result in higher levels of secondary plant metabolites than in conventional production methods. Five variables related to organic and conventional methods were tested on the quercetin, rutin, and quercitrin accumulation in spinach. These include organic soil, synthetic soil, synthetic pesticides, synthetic herbicides, and simulated herbivory. Differences in quercetin concentrations between treatments were not found to reach significance. Rutin and quercitrin levels were immeasurably small. However, the variables are not properly controlled and so the results can be called into question. Additional fertilizers were added to the synthetic soils to prevent nutrient loss but not the organic soils. For this reason, the values of quercetin found for spinach in this study grown in synthetic soils might be artificially low or high (Bozak, 2006).

Another option for growing plants with higher nutraceutical content includes the use of genetically modified organisms that express a gene that leading to higher concentrations of the desired compounds. Very little literature was uncovered that was directly referring to specific developments Plants that are bioengineered to produce nutraceuticals should meet general requirements for genetically modified organisms, and must meet the specific requirements related to the production of the health compound.

in designer plants, but the article outlined below did address some agronomic practices and concerns that should be addressed before a producer should work with these plants.

Plants that are bioengineered to produce nutraceuticals should meet general requirements for genetically modified organisms, and must meet the specific requirements related to the production of the health compound (Kleter et al., 2001).

Over 90% of transgenic crops which are currently produced worldwide are used to express properties of herbicide and pest tolerance. A new trend is beginning however, with a focus on creating new and improved plant products, instead of a plant that expresses certain agronomic properties. The creation and marketing of specific plant traits can enable producers to produce higher value products for food and feed (Kleter et al., 2001). Over 90% of transgeniccropswhicharecurrentlyproducedworldwideareusedtoexpresspropertiesofherbicideandpesttolerance.

Before choosing a crop for genetic modification for nutraceutical

expression, the crop's agronomic characteristics, crop protection and the possible removal of plant residues must be considered (Kleter et al., 2007).

Any crop type has the potential to be genetically modified to produce nutraceuticals. Active compounds in functional food crops can involve increased mineral and vitamin levels. Each type of compound, when present in unnatural quantities may require its own safety approach. Invasiveness, pollen dispersal, host insects, outcrossing to adjacent fields and weedy relatives must be considered for safety. During culture and harvest, attention must be given to the safety of the farmers (Kleter et al., 2007).

Conclusion

The end goal of this review was to identify methods known from existing literature information to increase the nutraceutical content in selected vegetables for the grower. For some vegetables like the tomato, carrot and onion the goal was fulfilled. Books and journals researched from all over the world yielded vital information on these vegetables. The information ranged from the health benefits to the agronomic factors that influence the expression of high levels of phytochemicals in the vegetables from the time of growth, harvest and storage. In this review, while most of the scientists seemed to agree on most aspects, their differences in opinion were highlighted.

Spinach, sweet corn and surprisingly garlic had many information gaps. While the health benefits of garlic have been the subject of many studies, very little still exists on the agronomic factors surrounding its production. The research on spinach was the most limited. There is a pressing need for more studies to close these information gaps if the grower is to be provided with a more balanced and consistent information package.

Overall, this research managed to search out from the available European and North American literature the information needed by growers to improve their production practices for a crop that has a superior phytochemical content. From the information gathered, the grower will see how factors like cultivar selection, soil type, terrain, temperature, water quantity and quality, nutrient supply, pest and disease management may be manipulated into producing an ideal product.

Finally, it is imperative for today's plant breeders to start selecting for more "relevant" cultivars. The 21st century consumer appears not to be concerned with just the health benefits of what is on their dinner plate but also with the production practices throughout the growing season. The plant breeders have to factor in these consumer concerns if they are to produce an acceptable and relevant cultivar.

References

- Ali, M. 1995. Mechanism by which garlic inhibits cyclo-oxygenase activity: Effect of raw versus boiled extracts on the synthesis of prostanoids. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids*. 53: 397-400.
- Ali, M., K.K. Al-Qattan, F. Al-Enezi., R.M.A. Khanafer, and T. Mustafa. 2000. Effect of allicin from garlic powder on serum lipids and blood pressure in rats fed with a high cholesterol diet. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids*. 62: 253-259.
- ANA-American Nutraceutical Association, Nutraceutical Information. <<u>http://www.ana-jana.org</u>>.
- Asami, D.K., Y. Hong, D.M. Barrett, and A.E. Mitchell. 2003. Comparison of the total phenolic and ascorbic acid content of freeze-dried and air-dried Marion berry, strawberry, and corn grown using conventional, organic, and sustainable agricultural practices. J. Agric. Food Chem. 51: 1237-1241. <<u>http://postharvest.ucdavis.edu/datastorefiles/234-246.pdf</u>> (23 October 2007).
- Bakri, I.M., and C.W.I. Douglas. 2005. Inhibitory effect of garlic extract on oral bacteria. *Archives of Oral Biology*. 50: 645-651.
- Banerjee, S.K., P.K. Mukherjee, and S.K. Maulix. 2003. Garlic as an antioxidant: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Phytotherapy Research*. 17: 97-106.
- Benbrook, C.M. 2005. Elevating antioxidant levels in food through organic farming and food processing. *Organic Center State of Science Review*. 81 pages. <<u>http://www.organic-center.org/reportfiles/Antioxidant_SSR.pdf</u>>. (23 October 2007).
- Boileau, T.W., Z. Liao, S. Kim, S. Lemeshow, J.W. Erdman, and S.K. Clinton. 2003. Prostrate carcinogenesis in N-methyl-N-nitrosourea (NMU)-testosterone-treated rats fed tomato powder, lycopene, or energy restricted diets. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 95: 1578-1586.
- Bourn, D., and J. Prescott. 2002. A comparison of the nutritional value, sensory qualities, and food safety of organically and conventionally produced foods. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*. 42: 1-34. <<u>http://www.misa.umn.edu/vd/bourn.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Bozack, A. 2006. Effect of organic and conventional farming practices on quercetin content in spinach *Spinacia oleracea*. 15 pages. <<u>http://ist-socrates.berkeley.edu/~es196/projects/2006final/bozack.pdf</u>> (07 November 2007).
- Brandt, S., Z. Pek, E. Barna, A. Lugasi, and L. Helyes. 2006. Lycopene content and colour as affected by environmental conditions. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 86: 568-572.
- Brecht, J., M. Ritenour, S. Sergent. 2006. Maintaining flavor quality of fresh vegetables. *American Vegetable Grower*. 54: 18.
- Bruulsema, T.W. 2002. Nutrients and product quality. *Better Crops* 86: 18-19 <<u>http://www.ipni.net/ppiweb/bcrops.nsf/\$webindex/336A97166402619185256BDB0048CE24/\$fi</u> <u>le/02-2p18.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Bruulsema, T.W., G. Paliyath, A. Schofield, and M. Oke. 2004. Phosphorus and phytochemicals. *Better Crops* 88: 6-7, 11 <<u>http://www.ppi-</u>

ppic.org/ppiweb/bcrops.nsf/\$webindex/88BD9D6C669A393B85256E91001A6891/\$file/04-2p06.pdf> (07 November 2007).

- Chen H.E., H.Y. Peng, and B.H. Chen. 1996. Stability of carotenoids and vitamin A during storage of carrot juice. *Food Chemistry*. 57: 497-503.
- Chope, G.A., L.A. Terry, and P.J. White. 2006. Effect of controlled atmostphere storage on abscisic acid concentration and other biochemical attributes of onion bulbs. *Postharv. Bio. Technol.* 39: 233-242.
- de Azevedo, C.H., and Rodriguez-Amaya, Delia B., 2005. Carotenoid composition of kale as influenced by maturity, season and minimal processing, Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 85:591-597.
- Dewanto, V., X. Wu., and R.H. Liu. 2002. Processed sweet corn has higher antioxidant activity. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 50: 4959-4964.
- Dorais, M., O. Ayari, G. Samson, and A.A. Gosselin. 2001. Does carbohydrate accumulation affect the photosynthetic efficiency of tomatoes? *Acta Hort. (ISHS)*. 554: 251-260.
- Dumas, Y., A. Dadomo, G. Di Lucca, and P. Grolier. 2003. Effects of environmental factors and agricultural techniques on antioxidant content of tomatoes. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. 83: 369-382.
- Evers, A.M., H. Tuuri, M. Hagg, S. Plaami, U. Hakkinen, and H. Talvitie. 1997. Soil forming and plant density effects on carrot yield and internal quality. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*. 51: 283-294.
- Fleischauer, A.T., C. Poole, and L. Arab. 2000. Garlic consumption and cancer prevention metaanalyses of colorectal and stomach cancers. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 72: 1047-1052.
- Food Safety Risk Assessment Foods of Plant Origin. OMAF Food Inspection Branch. December 2001. www.omafra.gov.ca/food/inspection/fruitvegrisk_assessment_pdf>.
- Foolad, M.R. 2004. Recent advances in genetics of salt tolerance in tomato. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*. 76: 101-119.
- Giovannucci, E. 2002. A review of epidemiologic studies of tomatoes, lycopene and prostrate cancer. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 227: 852-859.
- Godal, V. Declining nutritional value of produce due to high yield selective seed breeding. *OrganicAuthority.com.* <<u>http://www.organicauthority.com/organic-food/organic-food-</u> <u>articles/declining-nutritional-value-of-produce-due-to-high-yield-selective-seed-breeding..html</u>> (07 November 2007).
- Goldman, I.L., A.A. Kader, and C. Heintz. 1999. Influence of production, handling and storage on phytonutrient content of foods. *Nutr. Rev.* 57: S46-S52.

Greenleaf, C. 1999. Insider insights on '99. American Vegetable Grower. 47: 26.

Griffiths, G., L. Trueman, T. Crowther, B. Thomas, and B. Smith. 2002. Onions – A global benefit to health. *Phytotherapy Research*. 16: 603-615.

- Gross, J. 1991. *Pigments in vegetables: Chlorophylls and carotenoids*. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Halweil, B. 2007. Still no free lunch: Nutrient levels in U.S. food supply eroded by pursuit of high yields. *The Organic Center*. 44 pages. <<u>http://www.organic-center.org/reportfiles/Yield_Nutrient_Density_Final.pdf</u>> (23 October 2007).
- Hohl, U., B. Neubert, H.P.I. Schonhof, and H. Bohm. 2001. Flavonoid concentrations in the inner leaves of head lettuce genotypes. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 213: 205-211.
- Hornero-Mendez, D., and M. Minguez-Mosquera. 2007. Bioaccessibility of carotenes from carrots: Effect of cooking and addition of oil. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*. 8: 407-412.
- Howatt S. 2004. Crop profile for carrot in Canada. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.

Lettuce. <<u>http://flavoursofindia.tripod.com/lettuce.html</u>>.

- Ismail A., and C.S. Fun. 2003. Determination of vitamin C, β-carotene and riboflavin contents in five green vegetables organically and conventionally grown. *Mal. J. Nutr.* 9: 31-39.
 <<u>http://nutriweb.org.my/publications/mjn009_1/mjn9n1_art4.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Javanmardi, J. and C. Kubota. 2006. Variation of lycopene, antioxidant activity, total soluble solids and weight loss of tomato during postharvest storage. *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 41: 151-155.
- Kaack, K., L.P. Christensen, S.L. Hansen, and K. Grevsen. 2004. Non-structural carbohydrates in processed fried onion (*Allium cepa* L.). *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 218: 372-379.
- Kader, A.A. 1988. Influence of preharvest and postharvest environment on nutritional composition of fruits and vegetables. In *Horticulture and Human Health: Contributions of Fruits and Vegetables,* edited by B. Quebedeaux, and F.A. Bliss. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall <<u>http://postharvest.ucdavis.edu/datastorefiles/234-453.pdf</u>> (23 October 2007).
- Kader, A.A. 2002. Pre- and postharvest factors affecting fresh produce quality, nutritional value, and implications for human health. *Proceedings of the International Congress Food Production and the Quality of Life, Sassari, Italy, September 4-8, 2000.* 1: 109-119
 http://postharvest.ucdavis.edu/datastorefiles/234-553.pdf> (23 October 2007).
- Ketter, C.A.T., and W.M. Randle. 1998. Pungency assessment in onions. In S.J. Karcher (Ed.). *Tested Studies for Laboratory Teaching*. Association for Biology Laboratory Education. 19: 177-196.
- Kleter G.A., W.M. van der Krieker, E.J. Kok, and L.J.W.J. Gilissen. 2001. Exploitation and regulation of plants genetically modified to express nutraceuticals and pharmaceuticals. <<u>www.rikilt.wageningen.ur.nl/nutraceuticals</u>>.
- Kopsell D.A., D.E. Kopsell, and J. Curran-Celentano. 2007. Carotenoid pigments in kale are influenced by nitrogen concentration and form. J. Sci. Food Agric. 87: 900-907.
- Kopsell, D.E., and W.M. Randle. 1992. Selenate concentration affects selenium and sulphur uptake and accumulation by 'Granex 33' onions. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 122: 721-726.

- Kopsell, D.E., and W.M. Randle. 1997. Onion cultivars differ in pungency and bulb quality changes during storage. *HortScience*. 32: 1260-1263.
- Kopsell, D.E., D.A. Kopsell, M.G. Lefsrud, J. Curran-Celentano, and L.E. Dukach. 2004. Variability in elemental accumulations among leafy *Brassica oleracea* cultivars and selections. *J. Plant Nutr.* 27: 1813-1826. <<u>http://luteinlab.unh.edu/kalescreenelement.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Kopsell, D.E., D.A. Kopsell, W.M. Randle, T.W. Coolong, C.E. Sams, and J. Curran-Celentano. 2003. Kale carotenoids remain stable while flavor compounds respond to changes in sulfur fertility. J. Agric. Food Chem. 7 pages. <<u>http://luteinlab.unh.edu/sulfurgalleyproof.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Kurilich, A.C., and J.A. Juvik. 1999. Quantification of carotenoid and tocopherol antioxidants in Zea mays. J. Agric. Food Chem. 47: 1948-1955.
- Kuti, J.O, and H.B. Konuru. 2005. Effects of genotype and cultivation environment on lycopene content in red-ripe tomatoes. J. Sci. Food Agric. 85: 2021-2026.
- Leclerc, J., M. L. Miller, E. Joliet, and G. Rocquelin. 1991. Vitamin and mineral contents of carrot and celeriac grown under mineral or organic fertilization. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture*. 7: 339-378.
- Lee, S.K., and A.A. Kader. 2000. Pre-harvest and post-harvest factors influencing vitamin C content of horticultural crops. *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 20: 207-220.
- Lefsrud, M., D. Kopsell, A. Wenzel, and J. Sheehan. 2007. Changes in kale carotenoid and chlorophyll pigment concentrations during leaf ontogeny. *Scientia Horticulture*. 112: 136-141.
- Leifert, C. 2007. Coordinator- QualityLowInputFood Project. <<u>http://www.qlif.org/index.html</u>>.
- Lester, G. Factors influencing levels of nutraceutical agents in vegetables. *HortScience*. 41: 59-64. <<u>http://www.usask.ca/agriculture/plantsci/vegetable/hortbytes/vegshorts.htm#FactorsInfluencingL</u> <u>evels</u>> (25 October 2007).
- Lila, M.A. 2006. The nature-versus-nurture debate on bioactive phytochemicals: The genome versus terroir. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 86: 2510-2515.
- Lisiewska, Z., and W. Kmiecik. 1996. Effect of level of nitrogen fertilizer, processing conditions and period of storage of frozen broccoli and cauliflower on vitamin C retention. *Food Chemistry*. 57: 267-270.
- Martinez-Valvarde, I., M.J. Periago, G. Provan, and A. Chesson. 2002. Phenolic compounds, lycopene and antioxidant activity in commercial varieties of tomato. J. Sci. Food Agric. 82: 323-330.
- McCallum, J.A., D.G. Grant, E.P. McCartney, J. Scheffer, M.L. Shaw, and R.C. Butler. 2001. Genotypic and environmental variation in bulb composition of New Zealand adapted onion (*Allium cepa*) germplasm. *New Zealand J. Crop Hort. Sci.* 29: 149-158.
- McKeehan, J.D., D.J. Smart, C.L. Mackowiak, R.M. Wheeler, and S.S. Nielsen. 1996. Effect of carbon dioxide levels in nutrient content of lettuce and radish. *Adv. Space Res.* 18: 85-92.

- Mitchell, A.E., and A.W. Chassy. Antioxidants and the nutritional quality of organic agriculture. 9 pages. <<u>http://mitchell.ucdavis.edu/Is%20Organic%20Better.pdf</u>> (24 October 2007).
- Mogren, L. 2006. Quercetin content in yellow onion (*Allium cepa* L.): Effects of cultivation methods, curing and storage. *Doctoral dissertation*. <<u>http://diss-epsilon.slu.se/archive/00001246/01/Acta96.pdf</u>> (24 October 2007).
- Mogren, L.M., M.E. Olsson, and U.E. Geertson. 2007. Quercetin content in stored onions (Allium cepa L.): Effects of storage conditions, cultivar, lifting time and nitrogen fertiliser level. J. Sci. Food Agric. 87: 1595-1602.
- Mousa A.S., and S.A. Mousa. 2007. Cellular effects of garlic supplements and antioxidant vitamins in lowering marginally high blood pressure in humans. *Science Direct Nutrition Research*. 27: 119-123.
- Organic Consumers Association. 2001. Is conventional produce declining in nutritional value? *LE Magazine*.<<u>http://www.organicconsumers.org/ofgu/vegies121205.cfm</u>> (25 October 2007).
- Pavlou G.C., C.D. Ehaliotis, and V.A. Kavvadias. 2007. Effect of organic and inorganic fertilizers applied during successive crop seasons on growth and nitrate accumulation in lettuce. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 111: 319-325.
- Pearson, D. 1982. *Chemical analysis of food*, 6th ed. Surrey: National College of Food and Technology.
- Peters, U., M.F. Leitzman, N. Chatterjee, Y. Wang, D. Albanes, E.P. Gelmann, M.D. Friesen, E. Riboli, and R.B. Hayes. 2007. Serum lycopene, other carotenoids, and prostate cancer risk: A nested case-control study in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer screening trial. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention.* 16: 962-968.
- Pietola, L. 1995. Effect of soil compactness on the growth and quality of carrot. *Agric. Sci. Finland.* 4: 139-237.
- Polder G., G.W.A.M. van der Heijden, H. van der Voet, and I.T. Young. 2004. Measuring surface distribution of carotenes and chlorophyll in ripening tomatoes using imaging spectrometry. Postharv. Biol. Technol. 34: 117-129.
- Raffo, A., G. La Malfa, V. Fogliano, G. Maiani, and G. Quaglia. 2006. Seasonal variations in antioxidant components of cherry tomatoes. J. Food Comp. Anal. 19: 11-19.
- Randle, W.M. 1997. Onion flavour chemistry and factors influencing flavour intensity. In S.J. Risch and C. Ho (Eds.), *Flavor chemistry and antioxidant properties*. ACS Symposium Series 660, Washington D.C., 41-52.
- Randle, W.M., and M.L. Bussard. 1993. Streamline onion pungency analyses. HortScience. 28: 60.
- Rao, A.W., Z. Waseem, and S. Agarwal. 1999. Lycopene content of tomatoes and tomato products and their contribution to dietary lycopene. *Food Res. Int.* 31: 737-741.
- Rattler, S., K. Briviba, B. Birzele, and U. Köpke. 2005. Effect of agronomic management practices on lettuce quality. 4 pages. <<u>http://www.qlif.org/research/sub3/pub/3_4_1.pdf</u>> (25 October 2007).

- Rickman, J.C., D.M. Barrett, and C.M. Bruhn. 2007. Review: Nutritional comparison of fresh, frozen, and canned fruits and vegetables. Part 1: Vitamin C and B and phenolics compounds. J. *Sci. Food Agric.* 87: 930-944.
- Rodriquez-Amaya, D.B. 2003. Enhancing the carotenoid levels of foods through agriculture and food technology. *Internet Paper for Food, Nutrition and Health Theme*. 7 pages. <<u>http://foodafrica.nri.org/nutrition/internetpapers/DeliaBRodriguez.pdf</u>> (25 October 2007).
- Rodriquez-Amaya, D.B. 2006. A guide to carotenoid analyses in foods: Assessment of the provitamin A contents of foods The Brazilian experience. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 9: 196-230.
- Rosa, E., M. David, and M.H. Gomez. 2001. Glucose, fructose and sucrose content in broccoli, white cabbage and Portuguese cabbage grown in early and late seasons. J. Sci. Food Agric. 81: 1145-1149.
- Ryback, M. E., E.M. Calver, and J.M. Harnly. 2004. Quantitative determination of allicin in garlic: Supercritical fluid extraction and standard addition of allicin. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 52: 682-687.
- Safefood Consulting Inc. 2007. A summary of the safety and nutritional value of organic food. 10 pages. <<u>http://www.croplife.ca/english/pdf/homenews/2007/SummaryoftheSafetyandNutritionalValueof</u> <u>OrganicFood.pdf</u>> (06 November 2007).
- Sánchez-Moreno, C., M.P. Cano, B. de Ancos, L. Plaza, B. Olmedilla, F. Granado, and A. Martín. 2006. Mediterranean vegetable soup consumption increases plasma vitamin C and decreases F2isoprotanes, prostaglandin E2 and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 in healthy humans. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 17: 183-189.
- Santos, B.M., J.A. Dusky, W.M. Stall, and J.P. Gilreath. 2004. Influence of common lambsquarters (*Chenopodium album*) densities and phosphorus fertilization on lettuce. *Crop Protection*. 23: 173-176.
- Seigfried, H.E., S.S. McDonald, D.E. Anderson, P. Greenwald, and J.A. Milner. 2003. The antioxidant conundrum in cancer. *Cancer Res.* 63: 4295-4298.
- Smith, B.L. 1993. Organic foods vs. supermarket foods: Element levels. *J. App. Nutr.* 45: 35-39. <<u>http://www.soilandhealth.org/01aglibrary/Arun/Organic%20vs%20supermarket-</u>element%20levels.pdf> (07 November 2007).
- Southon, S. 2000. Increased fruit and vegetable consumption within the EU: Potential health benefits. *Food. Res. Intl.* 33: 211-217.
- Stamp, N.E. 2003. Out of the quagmire of plant defense hypotheses. Q. Rev. Biol. 78: 23-55.
- Steck, S.E., M.D. Gammon, J.R. Hebert, D.E. Wall, and S.H. Zeisel. 2007. GSTM1, GSTT1, GSTP1, and GSTA1 Polymorphisms and Urinary Isothiocyanate Metabolites following Broccoli Consumption in Humans. J. Nutr. 137: 904-909.
- Sun, T., J.R. Powers, and J. Tang. 2007. Evaluation of the antioxidant activity of asparagus, broccoli and their juices. *Food Chem.* 105: 101-106.

- Sweeney, J.P., and A.C. Marsh. 1971. Effects of selected herbicides on provitamin A content of vegetables. J. Agric. Food Chem. 19: 854-856. <<u>http://pubs.acs.org/cgi-bin/abstract.cgi/jafcau/1971/19/i05/f-pdf/f_jf60177a048.pdf?sessid=600613</u>> (25 October 2007).
- Tarwadi, K., and V. Agte. 2005. Antioxidant and micronutrient quality of fruit and root vegetables from the Indian subcontinent and their comparative performance with green leafy vegetables and fruits. J. Sci. Food Agric. 85: 1469-1476.
- Termeer, W.C., and P.R. Warman. 1994. Analysis of racetrack, yardwaste and sewage sludge compost and evaluation as a soil amendment and growth medium. In Proc. of the 4th Annual Meeting, The Composting Council of Canada, October 13-14, Toronto, Ontario. pp. 389-408.
- Thompson, L, J. Morris, E. Peffley, C. Green, P. Paré, D. Tissue, R. Jasoni, J. Hutson, B. Wehner, and C. Kane. 2005. Flavonol content and composition of spring onions grown hydroponically or in potting soil. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 18: 635-645.
 <<u>http://www2.tltc.ttu.edu/ppare/Research/PDF%20Articles/Food%20comp%20anal%202005.pdf</u>
 >. (09 November 2007).
- Thompson, L., E. Peffley, C. Green, P. Paré, and D. Tissue. 2004. Biomass, flavonol levels and sensory characteristics of *Allium* cultivars grown hydroponically at ambient and elevated CO₂. *SAE International*. 7 pages.
 <<u>http://www2.tltc.ttu.edu/ppare/Research/PDF%20Articles/SAE%20Food%20Tech%202004.pdf</u>
 >. (24 October 2007).
- Toivonen P. 1997. The effects of storage temperature, storage duration, hydrocooling and microperforated wrap on shelf life of broccoli. *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 10: 59-65.
- Toor, R.K., G.P. Savage, and H. Anuschka. 2006. Influence of different types of fertilizers on the major antioxidant components of tomatoes. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 19: 20-27.
- Ungoed-Thomas, J. 2007. "Eat your words, all who scoff at organic food." *The Times of London*, October 28, 2007. < <u>http://www.timesonline.co.uk/tol/news/uk/health/article2753546.ece</u>>.
- Vajello, F., F. Toma-Barberan, and C. Garcia-Viguera. 2003. Phenolic compound contents in edible parts of broccoli inflorescences after cooking. J. Sci. Food Agric. 83: 1511-1516.
- Verified Health Quality. 2007. Definitions and Reference. <<u>http://www.vhqfoods.ca/definitions-</u> references.aspx >.
- Ward, N.I., K. Stead, and J. Reeves. 2001. Impact of endomycorrhizal fungi on plant trace element uptake and nutrition. *The Nutrition Practitioner*, (3.2) 4 pages. <<u>http://www.cprm.gov.br/pgagem/Manuscripts/wardn.pdf</u>> (25 October 2007).
- Wargovich, M.J., 2000. Anticancer properties of fruits and vegetables. HortScience. 35: 573-575.
- Warman P. R. and K.A. Havard. 1997. Yield, vitamin and mineral contents of organically and conventionally grown carrots and cabbage. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*. 61: 155-162.
- Warman P.R. 1997. Results of the long-term vegetable crop production trials: conventional vs. compost-amended soils. Submitted April 4, 1997 to *Acta Horticulturae*.

- Warman, P.R., and Havard, K.A., 1997. Yield, vitamin and mineral contents of organically and conventionally grown potatoes and sweet corn. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*. 68: 207-216.
- Warman. P. R. 1995. Influence of rates and timing of incorporation of dairy manure compost on sweet corn yield, composition and soil fertility. *Compost Science and Utilization*. 3: 66-71.
- Williamson, G., G.W. Plumb, Y. Uda, K.R. Price, and M.J. Rhodes. 1996. Dietary quercetin glycosides antioxidant activity and induction of the anticarcinogenic phase II marker enzyme quinone reductase in Helpalclc 7 cells. *Oxford Journals*. 17: 2385-2337.
- Willoughby, 2000. Tomatoes and carrots may reduce lung cancer risk. *American Vegetable Grower*. 48: 9.
- Worthington, V. 1999. Nutrition and biodynamics: Evidence for the nutritional superiority of organic crops. *Biodynamics*. 224. <<u>http://www.mindfully.org/Food/Organic-Crops-Superior-</u> <u>WorthingtonJul99.htm</u>> (09 November 2007).
- Worthington, V. 2001. Nutritional quality of organic versus conventional fruits, vegetables, and grains. J. Alt. Comp. Med. 7: 161-173. <<u>http://extension.usu.edu/foodchoices/files/uploads/Nutritional%20quality%20of%20organic%20</u> versus%20conventional%20fruits,%20vegetables,%20and%20grains.pdf> (09 November 2007).
- Zhuang, H., D.F. Hilderbrand, and M.M. Barth. 1997. Temperature influenced lipid peroxidation and deterioration in broccoli buds during postharvest storage. *Postharv. Biol. Technol.* 10: 49-58.

Appendix A

VARIETY	GREENHOUSE	FIELD
L. esculentum Mill	lycopene conter	nt mg kg {exp-1} fresh weight
ROUND TOMATO TYPE		
Golden Jubilee	30.4	23.3
Early Cascade	29.6	20.2
First Lady	37.2	26.5
Better Boy	19.9	14.0
Early Girl	23.9	20.2
Super Steak	8.4	6.2
Early Pick	18.0	12.6
Fantastic	35.1	16.2
Monte Carlo	8.3	6.1
Dona	5.7	4.3
Italian Beefsteak	20.6	29.6
Terrific	23.4	11.7
Mar Globe Select	26.1	21.3
Stupice	45.9	27.5
Druzba	29.7	23.6
Red Brandywine	37.3	17.6
Miracle Sweet	30.6	28.8
Sweet Cluster	34.2	16.2
Big Beef	27.4	13.5
Saint Pierre	39.6	27.2
Boxcar Wille	31.5	19.8
Goliath Bush	23.8	20.5
Red Plum	47.8	31.5
Husky Red	33.6	10.8
Bonnie Best	26.4	16.2
Polish Giant	9.7	5.3
Keepsake	27.2	18.3
Kada	35.1	19.9
Sun Master	27.8	20.1

	Greenhouse	Field
L. esculentum Mill		
CLUSTER TOMATO TYPE		
ALMA-01	34.4	27.4
GS-111	21.9	15.3
GS-114	33.3	12.6
TMT-510	30.6	23.4
TMT-521	35.4	21.6
TMT-555	29.6	14.3
Mean	30.3	25.2

	Greenhouse	Field		
L. esculentum var. cerasiforme				
CHERRY TOMATO TYPE				
Juliet Hybrid	54.7	94.5		
Gardener's Delight	48.9	73.8		
Sugar Lump	63.6	116.7		
Sun Cherry	57.3	82.5		
Mean	56.1	91.9		

Source: Table 2: Total lycopene contents in raw red-ripe samples of 40 tomato varieties grown under greenhouse and field environments (Kuti & Konuru, 2005).